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Thursday, September 13, 2007


--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 110:05 a.m. 

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting today in connection with a motion that was filed by Union Gas Limited on September 6th seeking a decision from the Board varying its decision of July 13th in this proceeding, at which time the Board determined that it would not allow Union's application to proceed separately, but, rather, would continue with the combined hearing.


This hearing, of course, relates to the applications that were filed by both Union Gas Limited and Enbridge Gas Distribution on May 11th seeking the approval of rates for the distribution of natural gas effective January 1st.


Can we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, my name is Michael Penny.  I appear for Union Gas, the moving party.



MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.


MR. FARRELL:  My name is Jerry Farrell.  I appear for Enbridge.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd appearing for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MR. KAISER:  Counsel.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Okay.

Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I intend to be quite brief, because the Board is familiar with the background of this matter.  You have Union's written submissions, and the basis for Union's request is quite narrow and very specific.


Union is asking, of course, for a reconsideration of the Board's decision to hear the two current applications, one from Union and one from Enbridge, in a joint proceeding.  


We say there have been two material changes in circumstances or new facts that should cause the Board to do so.


The first is that the delay attendant upon the extensions that were sought when Union first made this request were only three weeks.  As a result of factors outside of Union's control, that delay has now blossomed into a little over two months.  


The second is that we know more about the content of the Enbridge revenue cap proposal and it, we say, has become clear that not only the proposals themselves are very different as between Union and Enbridge, but that the evidence that underpins Union's price cap proposal is of a very different nature than the evidence underpinning the Enbridge proposal, such that the utility of a joint proceeding is called into serious question.


On the first issue, the delay and retroactivity, that was of course a concern that Union raised when we appeared before you on July the 13th.  That concern has not changed.  What has changed is that what was thought to have been only a three-week delay has now become a delay of over two months, and that, we say, alone is a material change that warrants reconsideration of the merits, given that the underpinning of the prior decision was that the delay was not thought to be not that significant. 


And I won't repeat all of the concerns about retroactivity and the implications for both Union and its customers.  You have heard me on that before.


The second issue requires peeling back the onion, to some extent, because apart from the obvious differences between a price cap and a revenue cap, you have to look at the content of the components of the proposals, because, at one level, superficially they can look relatively similar in the sense that you have to talk about what the productivity factor is going to be, what the ^X factor is going to be, what the inflation factor is going to be, and so on; but when you peel back the onion, it becomes, in my submission, abundantly clear that the evidence and kinds of inquiries that are going to have to go on to test that evidence are really quite different in the two proposals.


Some of these differences are enumerated in paragraph 17 of our factum.  I am not going to repeat them all, other than to highlight that the most obvious ones are things like in the Enbridge proposal we are dealing with annual forecasts of revenue requirement, annual forecasts of customer additions and annual forecasts of ^throughput.  Those are, of course, things the Board knows are things that occupy significant hearing time in a cost-of-service rate case, and things that are likely to occupy significant hearing time in this case, but they are, most importantly, things that are not features of Union's price cap proposal at all.



I want to emphasize that the different features of these two proposals have an impact not only on the interrogatory process and on the hearing itself, but will have an impact on the ADR process, as well, and we think now, in light of this additional information, that it is unlikely that either the ADR or the hearing can be conducted on both applications in the short time that is currently being allotted to those activities in the current schedule.


On July 19, the weighing of the common and disparate issues was somewhat speculative.  We say now it is apparent that the differences will outweigh the similarities, and so that is why Union asks for a reconsideration of the earlier decision and for an order that the two applications proceed independently.


And that is really all I have to say, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, your material refers to an application for interim rates.  Has that been filed?


MR. PENNY:  No, it has not.  We felt that we should take another crack at this before doing that, but we do intend to make an application before the end of the month for interim rates.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any idea what kind of rate increase you will be looking for on an interim basis?


MR. PENNY:  As far as I know, the current intention is to ask for what is being asked in the application.


MR. KAISER:  What is that percentage?


MR. PENNY:  It is the formula, so it is 0.2 less -- 0.02, excuse me, less than inflation rate increase, and on the basis of the latest GDP IPI, it would be around -- that would mean it would be around 2 per cent, I believe.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Farrell.


MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chairman, I was going to ask that Mr. Shepherd precede me, because I would like to be able to respond to his submissions, which are not identical to Union's, but sort of not favourable to Enbridge either.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I wonder if we could ask Union first to clarify that the interim rate increase that they would request would include the weather adjustment, which would mean it would be higher than 2 per cent; is that right?



MR. PENNY:  That is correct.  What I was talking about is the formula.



MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is actually more like 4 per cent.


MR. PENNY:  There is roughly $7 million involved in the weather normalization adjustment.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd says that takes it to 4 per cent; is that right?


MR. PENNY:  No, we think it wouldn't be that high.  We can reflect on that and get back to you.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we have changed our position since July 13th, the only ones who have, I guess.


The Board will be aware that Schools are strong opponents of retroactivity in rates.  It is of special concern to Schools, because of our budgetary timing, and, in fact, when I was asked in 2002 to come into the -- back into the energy-regulatory area, it was because the schools were facing a retroactive charge which was causing them to close libraries and things like that, and it was a very big deal to them and still is today.



When I saw Union's motion in this situation, I had to think to myself, Tomorrow I have to report to my clients - it is one of my normal sort of monthly reporting days - and tell them what we are doing and why we took the positions we did, et cetera.  And they are aware of the position we took in July and why we did it and the logic behind it.


But I would have to say to them tomorrow it looks like the Union -- the schools in the Union area will not get their rate adjustment until July, or will have to accept an interim rate based on no evidence.  The Board will have to make a decision without having evidence in front of them, which we feel is a very serious breach of principle.


And I did not know how I could explain to them why there was enough advantage in keeping the proceedings together to warrant the schools having to put into next year's budget a rate increase that belongs this year.  


By the way, to them it is a rate increase.  You think of it as a timing difference, but, of course, retroactive changes in rates to ratepayers are generally not timing differences, because when you don't pay the bill today, you don't put it in the bank and save it up and pay it later.  That is not what happens. 


What happens is -- and in schools in particular, because it goes over a year end -- it actually means it is treated like a rate increase.  So instead of -- if Union gets what they ask for, instead of a 4 per cent rate increase, school wills be faced with a 6 per cent rate increase in their next fiscal year.  And I didn't know how to explain that to them.  I didn't know how to explain what they were -- what benefit they were getting for accepting that result.  


Yes, there is a benefit, absolutely.  Keeping the proceedings together has some regulatory efficiency associated with it.  It allows us to probably make better decisions, but is it worth that price, that level of retroactivity?


So the difference between July and today is, in July this Board was told -- on August 3rd, I think it was -- I don't remember the exact date, I think it was August 3rd -- Enbridge's application will be filed.  On August 3rd Enbridge's application was not filed.  That's not correct.  Their evidence was not filed.  Some of it was.  But as we saw later on Issues Day, there was a lot left.  Last night I got another 50, 60, 70 pages of material.  There is still lots more to come.  We are not even close yet.  


Now, it's not just Enbridge.  I am not picking on them.  Union still has stuff to file, and there are going to be more questions of them.  I get that. 


But the reality is that if it were not for the complications associated with the unusual aspects of the Enbridge application and their evidence behind it, it is probably true that we would right now be at the point where we would be talking about a technical conference shortly in Union Gas, and perhaps an ADR in October, and maybe November at the latest. 


There is no reasonable likelihood of that in the current situation.  As far as I can see, the current schedule is not achievable.  We are way behind already, and it is not going to get better. 


MR. KAISER:  Can I just ask you a question?  When you talk about the current schedule, you are talking about the schedule that we formulated in August, after Issues Day?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is correct, the one that everybody has agreed to. 


MR. KAISER:  Everyone did agree, did they not?


MR. SHEPHERD:  They did, and yet we are already behind.  We are already behind weeks, and we haven't even got all the material we were supposed to get on September whatever, a week and a half ago. 


MR. KAISER:  When was the ADR scheduled to start?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't remember.  It's in November, I think. 


MR. KAISER:  November.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I think the first point -- and I think it is very important to realize this.  The Board made a decision on July 13th on the expectation that the evidence, the pre-filed evidence, relatively complete applications, would be in everybody's hands on August 3rd.  We are now September 13th, and that is still not the case.


The second comment I would make is, now that we have seen the level of complexities that are going to arise out of the Enbridge application -- and I don't agree that the issues are different in the two applications.  I think the issues are all the same.  But I think the complexity of how the issues have to be dealt with, the thoroughness you have to go into them in the case of the Enbridge application, is significantly higher. 


And one of the results of that is, we are going to go into ADR whenever we go into it, and I would say the reasonable likelihood, there is not likely to be a settlement.  You are not going to get one utility settling and the other not.  Once you have delayed it and everybody has had to go through everything, you might as well go to hearing.  Whereas if you split them up, I would say there is a very good chance that the ratepayers and Union will settle.  Now, I'm not -- I have been at this too long to think that I can predict that, but --


MR. KAISER:  Why is that?  Because one is simpler than the other? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  One is a great deal simpler than the other, and because -- let's look at the practical reality of this.  Union has been pushing, pushing, pushing to avoid retroactive rates.  When they get into ADR, they will have an opportunity to have January 1st rates if they settle.  Are they going to be motivated?  Yes, of course.  And there are not that many issues to fight about.  So I say there is a very good chance that we will have January 1st rates in Union. 


Now, the one complication to that is the issue of weather risk, and we have raised the issue of weather risk and said we think that should be on the agenda in this proceeding.  The Board has commented on it in the Enbridge rate case last year.  But the fact is, if we try to hurry up with Union, we can't really deal with that. 


In fact, indeed, I don't know how we can deal with the change in their weather methodology.  But that is for them to decide whether they want to pursue that. 


But our feeling is that it would be sensible for the Board to say, if you are going to split them up, let's take the weather-risk issue, which does not have to be dealt with right away, and deal with it in a second phase, where we can have the time and the opportunity to do it in a thoughtful way.  It is a big change. 


With that caveat, our suggestion is not that you split this up into two proceedings.  That is a bad idea.  And if that is what Union is asking for, I think that is a mistake. 


What we are asking you to do instead is something much narrower.  It's to say, keep it in the same proceeding, have the same Panel hear both, have all the evidence apply to both, but have two different sets of procedural steps, so that the two utilities can march no longer in lock-step within the same proceeding.  The ADRs can be at different times.  We can have some common proceedings, like Technical Conference, if necessary; but at a certain point, one is faster than the other, because it doesn't need to wait.  Union doesn't need to wait for Enbridge's process, which will inevitably take longer. 


MR. KAISER:  Are you suggesting that we make a decision in one before the other? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.  And that means that Enbridge will have to be involved in the Union activities.  I get that.  But they are in any case.  They are if you keep them together. 


The difference is, we avoid retroactivity, without the significant disadvantages associated with simply having two separate rate cases with different panels, and inconsistencies and duplication. 


MR. KAISER:  Leaving aside the question of separate panels -- let's suppose there were similar panels -- if we make a decision in one before the other, doesn't that take away the advantages, the supposed advantages, of a combined hearing? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, because I think the issues that you will be dealing with in the Union case are relatively narrower.  I mean, yes, there are issues of things like, should there be earnings sharing, for example, or, you know, what's an -- should you use GDP ^PI and things like that.  But those are actually not the most complicated issues in this proceeding. 


The most complicated issues are issues of forward adjustments, and how much cost of service are we going to allow into incentive regulation activity, and those are primarily Enbridge issues, and that is where we are going to spend our time. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, you argue for the deferral of the weather component.  Well, what does that do for us, in terms of trying to bring a rate package that is a complete rate package into place for Union, as you say, in time for January the 1st?  How do we do that? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, it seems to me that the weather would be left as it is. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But when do we deal with the weather, then? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you would deal with the weather in the spring, in a Phase 2 or whatever. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the rates resulting from that change would then be applied how? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, remember, they are a smaller impact, and they would be applied to both utilities at some point next year, and there is some retroactivity involved in that, certainly, or there may not be.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's my --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You may say, You know what?  We don't need this to be retroactive.  We have made rates for January 1st.  Now we are going to change the weather rules, effective July 1st, or September 1st, whatever. 


MR. KAISER:  Or January 1st of the following year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or January 1st of the following year, yes, because there is no reason in particular why that has to be January 1st, 2008. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There was an agreed-upon schedule in August.  You alluded to it in your remarks.  Where are the divergences from that schedule?  What are the milestones in that schedule that are going to be missed?  Can you help us on that? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  They have already been missed.  All of the interrogatory responses were supposed to be in September 4th.  As I say, I am still getting them.  Last night at eight o'clock I got a bunch more.  I haven't even read them yet.  We just got a letter yesterday saying there was a whole bunch more from Board Staff that will be next week or the week after, I don't know, something like that. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And my question really is, what is the materiality of that?  We have a schedule that was agreed upon by the parties, and it has -- for example, it has an ADR process in November.  Are you suggesting that the lateness of the interrogatories compromises that ADR process in November?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That that can't be met? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think there is almost no chance that that can be met.  There is a process in which everything fits with everything else, so we get a bunch of information and we have an ability to have a technical conference to ask additional questions.  If we don't have the information, we can't have the technical conference.

If that technical conference is pushed back, then the undertakings from it are pushed back, and so on and so on, and the ADR gets pushed back.  We are over Christmas and the hearing is in January or February.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, do you have a copy of that schedule?  This is an important point.  Maybe we could have it.

MR. MILLAR:  I do, Mr. Chair.  With Mr. Battista's permission, I'll bring it up to you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The key element here is we have an agreed-upon schedule, and what are the necessary -- what is the leakage?  I am not particularly concerned about little bits of leakage along the way.  That happens in every case, but I am concerned about important milestones and whether they can be achieved or not within the context of this case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is fair to say -- and my colleagues may wish to have some comments on this.  I think it is fair to say that a significant percentage of the interrogatory responses, maybe a majority of them, were not seen on September 4th when they were supposed to be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We knew in August that there was going to be delays in the filing of evidence for both parties, I believe.  I believe that Enbridge indicated that there were going to be delays in the ultimate filing of its O&M documentation into September, and that there were also going to be some -- there may be some additional filings from Union within that time frame.

So that doesn't come as a big surprise.  That is not a surprise to anyone in this room, I don't believe.

My concern is the key milestones within this schedule and where they stand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Mr. Sommerville, I guess the only milestone we have hit so far is September 4th.  Certain things were supposed to happen on September 4th.  They did not.

Now, Enbridge may be willing to say and Union may be willing to say that every other milestone will be met, no problem, and we will get back on track.  I don't see it.  I have been in too many of these proceedings to believe that that is even remotely possible.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell, are you going to make the September 14th date?

MR. FARRELL:  I am advised no.  

Let me, just without perhaps meaning to the interrupt questions from Mr. Shepherd, I can just tell the Board where Enbridge is at in terms of interrogatories responses, and so on, so if Mr. Shepherd cares to comment on it, he will have the opportunity.  Do you prefer me to do that?

MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.

MR. FARRELL:  Enbridge received 303 interrogatory questions, and when we break them down into discrete items, there were 670 discrete items.

Over 60 percent was filed on September 4th.  As of last night, there are 30 outstanding.  Most of these relate to the ^Y factor for capital, and the answers rely on the 2008 capital budget being finalized; and it will be, and therefore, the balance of the interrogatories will be available for filing by September 25th, which is the deadline for Enbridge's last evidentiary filing of Exhibit C, tabs 5 and 6, and it is also the date for Union to file its proposed rates.

The next procedural milestone, as you see in the schedule, Mr. Chair, is the technical conference.

And I should advise Mr. Shepherd that the response to Schools' Interrogatories 1 and 2, Enbridge is aiming to file that today.

MR. KAISER:  Let's go back to September 14th.  That is the first milestone we face.  You were supposed to file your reply, the reply evidence to the PEG evidence.

When is that going to happen?  

MR. FARRELL:  On or before September 25th is Mr. Campbell's advice.  Let me just tell you why that is.

Some of the interrogatories we asked of the Pacific Economics Group they declined to provide responses unless there was a confidentiality agreement in place, and it took a little bit of time before the wrinkles got worked out in that.  

So that accounts for, or partially accounts for, the delay in -- or the delay that will happen tomorrow when the reply evidence is not filed.  

The delay is also occasioned by, as I said a few moments ago, the need to finalize the 2008 capital budget, which is in process now.

So the reply evidence will miss the target of the -- but no later than September the 25th.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What implications does that have for the technical conference?

MR. FARRELL:  I am not sure, Mr. Sommerville.  I do know, for example, that the technical conference involves, from Enbridge's perspective, Union's proposed rates, because Enbridge is Union's largest customer and even a small rate increase from Union's perspective has a large dollar impact on Enbridge.  

So we are prepared to live with getting Union's proposed rates on September 25th, and then going forward to participate in the ^technical conference on October 3rd.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Your answer is that there is no implication -- there shouldn't be -- from your client's point of view?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps I could comment, Mr. Sommerville.  We were supposed to have three weeks to look at the -- yes, more than three weeks to look at the evidence before the technical conference.  Mr. Farrell is proposing that we have nine days.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, you have had -- 60 per cent of the interrogatories were filed on time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is what I understood Mr. Farrell to say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  In fact, what he is saying is --

MR. FARRELL:  That is what I said, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, that's what he said.  So you are saying that is not accurate?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am saying that is the not accurate.  Maybe 60 per cent in numbers, but Schools 1 and 2 were a massive amount of information.  That is nine days late.

MR. KAISER:  You're going to get that today.


MR. FARRELL:  This is the size of the response to Schools 1 and 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As I said in my submissions, it is clear we are going to have a debate about this.  We're going to have to have some sort of -- if that is what he is giving us in terms of planning, then I guess we are going to be back before you on a motion, because clearly that is not all their plans.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You may want to read it before you go down that road.

MR. FARRELL:  He is going to get the plans that pertain to incentive regulation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Clearly; but, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, my point is a much simpler one.  There is always the potential that you will have disputes about whether there has been full disclosure.  

We asked for a significant amount of information, and Mr. Farrell is saying that a very small amount is going to be the response.  It suggests to me that the likelihood of a dispute is higher.  I think that is a fair conclusion.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell, are you filing Exhibit C on the 25th?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, Exhibit C, tabs 5 and 6.  Tabs 1 to 4 have already been filed.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, are you filing your proposed rates?

MR. PENNY:  We are proposing to file our proposed rates next week, Mr. Chairman.  The only reason we haven't filed them already is because we are waiting for the August GDP IPI numbers for the second quarter.  

I just wanted to emphasize that we would have -- that the fact that they haven't been filed is not that relevant, in my submission, in terms of timing, because it is really just the formulaic process of what people already know about.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That filing is going to inform your application for interim rates, as well; right?

MR. PENNY:  That is the other reason we haven't brought the motion for interim rates is because we wanted to have that done first.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And it is a perfect reflection.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, we interrupted you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are our submissions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thomson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Back to Mr. Farrell.

MR. KAISER:  Okay, Mr. Farrell.

MR. FARRELL:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Submissions by Mr. Farrell:


MR. FARRELL:  The test I take it Union is focussing on is changed circumstances, and reference has been made to July the 13th.  And let me start with the words of a great American philosopher:  This is deja vu all over again.  We have gone back to the 13th of July.

Nothing has changed, in my submission, to the extent that would or should motivate you and your colleagues, Mr. Chair, to review and vary your decision on that day.

I just want to take you back to the transcript of that day, and here is the issue as you framed it, Mr. Chair.  This is the transcript of July 13, 2007, page 45:
"The Board has heard various submissions this morning as to whether the proceedings should be separated, with the Union case heard  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1separately for the Enbridge case or whether they should continue on a combined basis, and whether in that event the timeline should be adjusted as requested by counsel for Enbridge. 

You also stated Union's concerned about retroactivity, again on page 45, with these words:
"Union has a concern with retroactivity, which the Board recognizes.  However, it is important to note that all of the customer groups appearing before us, of which there are a significant number, indicated that retroactivity concerns should be secondary to the more important concern...", and I emphasize the words "more important concern", "...which was to make sure the necessary time was taken to get this application right.  In that regard, there is a belief by virtually all of the intervenors that there were benefits in a combined proceeding.  Those benefits related to the efficiency of hearing the applications together, in addition to certain concerns of fairness with respect to Enbridge." 

And then on page 47 you make the Panel's ruling, and I will read that:
"With respect to the retroactivity concern, we understand the concern of Mr. Penny on behalf of his client.  The Board and intervenors also recognize that concern, but in all likelihood there are mechanisms, such as interim rates and rate-smoothing, to reduce the rate shock he is concerned with, even though the consumption at issue is in the winter months, when consumption is high.  In short, the Board is convinced there are mechanisms to deal with the concerns Union has with retroactivity." 

And Enbridge wholeheartedly agrees, and is prepared to take steps necessary to deal with the implications of retroactivity. 

Now, it is clear that Union wants to sever its application from Enbridge.  And sort of to put it kind of in the vernacular, Enbridge wants -- or Union wants Enbridge to be on a separate track and Union to be on a separate track. 

As I understand Mr. Shepherd's factum and his submissions this morning, he wants to retain a combined proceeding but have parallel tracks, with the train on one track, leaving perhaps Union Station, being expedited; in other words, parallel tracks, but one is expedited.


MR. KAISER:  With the same Panel on both trains.

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, which is a stretch, especially when one is leaving the station earlier than the other.  But both imply that separate tracks would receive equal treatment or, phrased another way, fair treatment. 

And as any student of American constitutional history would know, "separate but equal" is an oxymoron.  You may recall that "separate but equal" was the doctrine that supported school segregation in the United States for nearly a century after the Civil War.  That doctrine was trashed by the United States Supreme Court in 1954.  And we say you should do the same thing today by denying Union's motion. 

There has been no material change since July the 13th that wasn't anticipated on July the 13th.  

I would note, though, in terms of the procedural schedule and so on, the one that was agreed to in August, that Ms. Burns, on behalf of Union Gas, in an e-mail to Mr. Battista and all the parties to this proceeding on August the 15th, had a concern about the timing of Union's reply evidence on two issues not discussed in Union's pre-filed evidence; namely, the weather-risk issue and the commodity risk-management issue, and she noted that the agreed-upon schedule -- excuse me, that the reply evidence -- and I will just quote her e-mail:
"This would in turn delay the subsequent events by two weeks, with the oral hearing start date then scheduled to start December 20th..."

Instead of the earlier December date, accounting for the two-week period Union was seeking. 

And then she said, and I quote:
"It would be preferable that the hearing is not split into two segments because of the Christmas holidays, and therefore, it could start in January of 2008." 

So much for Union's concern about retroactivity in mid-August.  Union has obviously done an about-face. 

Union talked about the two material things.  One was the procedural delay, the three weeks to two months.  We think that two months is a bit of an exaggeration. 

But if we go back to July 13th, just on this issue of unanticipated procedural delays, Mr. Miller, on behalf of Board Staff, on page 5 of the transcript, talked about the fact that Enbridge's application would be for a different incentive rate method.  I am now on page 5 of the transcript, Mr. Chair, and I was just looking at lines 2 to 3.  I am not going to read this exhaustively. 

Then further down on that page he indicated that Enbridge would be proposing a per-customer revenue cap, and then he went on to say:
"All indications are that the proposal will be substantively different from the proposal by Union and from the proposal put together by Board Staff as part of last winter's consultative process." 

And he went on to note at the bottom of page 5 that, notwithstanding the differences, both utilities were following the Board's policy.  

And over at page 7 he had this to say.  And I am dealing with the point of what was anticipated or not on July the 13th.  And I'll quote:
"But the Board should consider that there may be further delays beyond the delayed filing due to the difference in proposed methodologies and the resulting scope of the examinations of each of the elements of respective methodologies.  Union has filed a method that has been considered by the parties through stakeholdering over the past six months.  It may not be a consensus view, but it is, in our submission, not likely that Union's application will proceed in a different fashion than Enbridge, and quite possibly more quickly." 

So you had before you as a Panel that advice, if I could put it that way.  You knew that if the two applications were separate, there was a possibility that Union could proceed more quickly. 

And then there is this concept of the "radical difference", which was the phrase used in both the motion and in Mr. Penny's factum.  

And again, I take you back to the transcript of that day, and now to page 38.  And this is Mr. Penny's submissions in reply.  And I will quote it as follows:
"The two utilities are, of course, different.  Union is predominantly rural, with a large industrial customer base.  Enbridge is primarily urban, with a smaller industrial base, a bigger residential base.  They are in radically different places, in terms of the regulatory schedule.  Enbridge just got its 2007 rate decision, and understandably needs time to absorb that.  Union got its 2007 rate decision in June of 2006.  Union has filed its evidence in this proceeding.  Enbridge, of course, has not.  And finally, the two utilities are now taking radically different positions on incentive regulation and have radically different needs, I would submit, arising from different circumstances." 

So "radical differences" is not new.  You knew that on July 13th. 

And Mr. Chairman, I don't think the fact that they are radically different, if indeed "radical" is an appropriate adjective, is a compelling reason to separate that.  In my submission, it is a compelling reason to keep them in a combined proceeding.

And I say that because it would facilitate a comparison of the two models and, therefore, the suitability of each model for its proponent, Union with a price cap, Enbridge with a revenue-per-customer cap.

It would, in my submission, also facilitate a comparison of those two models with any other model that may be proposed by any intervenor or any group of intervenors.  And in my submission, such a comparative hearing, if I can put it that way, would be fair to all parties.  "Separate but equal", as I said earlier, is an oxymoron.  "Separate but fair" is equally an oxymoron.  In my submission, you can't have both. 

And the same is true of Schools' "parallel but expedited" theme.  It is an oxymoron as well, because it won't be fair.  And there is, I submit, only rank speculation that Union is more likely to settle if it is severed than if a combined proceeding proceeds.  There is no evidence to that effect, just Mr. Shepherd's speculation.


Our concern about "parallel but expedited" is that -- or severing Union is that -- what you alluded to earlier, Mr. Chair.  The Board Panel, the Board Staff, and intervenors, including Enbridge, in terms of Union's application, are expected to be on both trains.  But if one train leaves, they have got to get off and just stay on the one train, and then come back and reboard.

As Mr. Shepherd indicated, that would mean and would inevitably lead to, at least in his view, a decision on Union's case before, perhaps, or shortly after Enbridge's case got underway before Enbridge let the station.  

Our concern is that a decision on Union's case puts Enbridge in a very awkward and, I submit, unfair position, because the Board will have decided, if Union is successful, that a price cap is the way to go, at least for Union.  And our concern is that either in reality or at least in perception that would put Enbridge in a position of having two burdens of proof.  

It would then have to prove that Union's model was wrong for Enbridge, and if it passed that hurdle, it would then have to prove that Enbridge's model is right for Enbridge, and we don't think that is fair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Farrell, I don't follow that, particularly.  I don't know why the Board making a determination in one case ought to be seen or considered in any way as predictive of the result in the other case.  I don't see that problem.

Could you expand on that somehow?  Do you have any reason to believe that the Board would somehow be disinclined; if it made a decision in the Union case to go with the price cap, that somehow the Board would be disinclined to consider revenue cap?

MR. FARRELL:  I think what you are asking, Mr. Sommerville, is, am I suggesting that the Board would, by making the hypothetical decision that I have just indicated, be predisposed to favour a price cap on a generic basis.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. FARRELL:  Obviously, I can't say that that is the reality.  I was careful, I thought, to deal in perceptions, and whether perceptions become the reality is, I guess, saying the same thing as beauty is in the eye of beholder.  

I have no reason to doubt that the Board wouldn't deal with the Enbridge's case on the merits, but I do think - and I say this with respect to Board Staff - what makes us a little antsy, if I can put it that way, is Board Staff clearly favours a price cap.  

So you have the Board Staff as a party, in effect, but also an advisor to the Panel, and it just places us in a situation where we feel a bit antsy.  If the Union train leaves, you get a decision.  It is a price cap of some kind, and that just leaves us wondering what burden of proof, what hill we have to climb, in order to persuade you that the revenue-per-customer cap is the way to go for Enbridge, regardless of what you have done with Union.  And maybe it is just a perception.

MR. KAISER:  You have the Board Staff problem, if I can call it that, regardless of whether there are two separate cases or one case.

MR. FARRELL:  That is true, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  I thought I heard Mr. Shepherd say - and that is why I asked him the question - that he wasn't proposing that we decide one case before the other.  Did I understand that right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, Mr. Chairman.  I think what I am proposing is that when Union gets to the point where you make a decision, you make the decision.

MR. KAISER:  So we would decide the Union case before the Enbridge case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Likely, or you would accept a settlement, hopefully.

MR. KAISER:  That would be before hearing all of the Enbridge evidence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  That is your concern?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  We are going to make a decision on one case without having the full benefit of your evidence upon the countervailing proposition?


MR. FARRELL:  If I didn't make that clear in my earlier submissions, I failed, because I attempted to say, when Mr. Shepherd answered an earlier question that yes, he expected a Union decision, is that that is what we anticipated would be the outcome of the procedure he was advocating in both his factum and then orally again this morning.

MR. KAISER:  Is that it?

MR. FARRELL:  That is it.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Counsel?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have some questions for Mr. Farrell first, please.

My understanding is Union has expressed a number of concerns, but certainly some of the concerns that I gather from their submissions this morning is of further delays, because, as I understand it, they did agree to this schedule which has a hearing beginning December 6th, but the concern now is that that will slip further.

So I am curious that Enbridge agreed to a schedule that showed a September 4th interrogatory answers, but if you knew your capital -- you must have known the timing for your capital budget.  So I am curious why you agreed to a schedule when clearly you were not going to be able to achieve it for the interrogatory answers if they relied on a capital budget.

I guess the reason for my concern -- and that is, in a sense, water under the bridge, but we have another date, which will be undertakings from the technical conference, which will be due October 11th.  And I know you have sort of referred to these as targets, but I see these as a deadline.  

Do you foresee a difficulty achieving that deadline of October 11th?

MR. FARRELL:  No.  If I used the word "target", because I misused it, because I realize these are milestones as opposed to something you might reach or you might not.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sort of like a bill.  When I get a bill, I have to pay it.  It is not a target.  It is a deadline; right?

So from your perspective, you believe that this schedule is achievable, to begin the hearing December 6th?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, we do.  May I just have a moment, please?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, while he is conferring, are you still proposing this January date that Mr. Farrell referred to in the Burns letter?

MR. PENNY:  No, no.  I just wanted to say in respect of that whole issue that there is agreement -- an agreement.  I suppose it is correct to say that Union agreed to this schedule, but it was of course in the context of the joint proceeding and accomplishing all the tasks that had to be accomplished.

I don't want for a second there to be any suggestion, and I don't know that anyone is making this suggestion, that we somehow waived our right to say that we didn't like this schedule as a matter of principle.  This was just the practical application of people trying to figure out how long it was going to take to get everything done that needed to be done, and I certainly would resist any suggestion that having agreed in that sense to this schedule I have waived my right to say that there is still a problem with it, and it is the problems that I have outlined.

If this is the circumstance we are faced with, this was an appropriate schedule, but I didn't waive my right to say that this is still a problem.  Because we weren't focussed -- we weren't dealing with those kinds of issues in this schedule, we were just dealing with the practical question of:  When can things be done, given that other things are happening?

And that January issue, that is entirely gone by the boards.  That was again in that context of just trying to figure out, given a starting point, when things would have to be done in order to go through all the procedural steps.

MR. FARRELL:  If I could just go back to Ms. Chaplin's question.  When Enbridge "agreed", to use Mr. Penny's interpretation of this schedule, we did not anticipate that the capital budget would have a delay.  It was the implications of factoring in the Board's rates decision that caused more complexity than we anticipated at the time.

So we didn't know, in other words, when we agreed to this, that there would be some delay occasioned by the inability to finalize the 2008 capital budget by now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board.  IGUA submitted a factum late yesterday.  It is two pages.  I assume you have had an opportunity to take a look at that.  

The other document that I just ask that you put your finger on, if you wouldn't mind, is the Board -- Mr. Batista's letter to Ms. Wally of September the 12th describing the PEG situation, because the responses to interrogatories from PEG, of course, are material to progress here.

MR. KAISER:  Do we have that letter, Mr. Millar, that Mr. Thompson is referring to?

MR. THOMPSON:  My client's position is that the motion to sever should be denied, and I was asked by Mr. Ryder to indicate that Kitchener takes the same position with respect to the motion.  Mr. Ryder can't be here today, and I don't know if he submitted a letter to the Board or not.  If he did, I haven't seen it.  But that is what he asked me to indicate. 

But just a couple of preliminary points I wanted to emphasize.  There has been discussion of the schedule that is attached to your Procedural Order No. 5 dated August 31, 2007, and that was the result of a discussion amongst counsel, and that discussion took place following your suggestions, Mr. Chairman, after the Issues Day.

And the steps in the schedule were agreed upon, and the dates set out in the schedule were agreed upon by Union; also by Board Staff, I may say.  

And I don't, quite frankly, agree with Mr. Penny when he says, Well, we agreed on it, but we really didn't agree on it, in the sense we are dissatisfied and we can maintain a position that it is unacceptable.


But my point is, the steps in the process were agreed upon, and as Mr. Sommerville said, there are some sort of major milestones, the settlement conference and then the hearing.  And then there are the evidence-filing deadlines.  And as we have heard, some of those have been missed already. 

But the point that I wanted to draw to your attention about the PEG situation is, their stuff was all due by September the 4th, and a lot of the parties, including Enbridge and intervenors, are waiting to see what PEG has to say in response to their questions.

And you will see that in this letter, that PEG's responses to a number of intervenor interrogatories won't be completed until the 18th of September, in a number of cases; in the case of my client, the 21st of September; and in the case of Board Staff interrogatories, by the 20th of September.

And there is an attached letter from Mr. Lowry which explains the cause for this.  And he -- in paragraph 2, it is due to the volume of the questions that have been received.  Parties have filed approximately 500 questions.  He talks about the complexity of the issues.  And I agree with that.  We are dealing with statistical material and the material that needs to be analyzed.  And he also focuses on a serious family matter which occurred in the situation of the PEG team. 

So it seems to me the starting point is, when are we going to get all that stuff?  And then you look at the situation of the case from that perspective.  

And so that then brings me to Union's motion to sever.  I agree with Enbridge.  Nothing relevant to your July 13 decision to adhere to a combined hearing has changed.  And the points that were made on July 13th which the Board subscribed to, as I understand it, which remain valid today, as they did then, are first, common issues should be considered and decided in a combined proceeding.

And the second principle that guided your July 13th decision was, retroactivity concerns should not prompt you to detract from applying the first principle.

And so it is in that context that I ask you to consider what Union is asking.  They are asking -- they are, in effect, re-arguing what they argued in July.  But I ask you to consider, what are the common issues to each proceeding. 

And the first one, in my respectful submission, is the range of options, the range of incentive regulation options, to be applied to each utility.  Union says, Well, we are proposing a price cap.  Therefore, we are somehow different than Enbridge.  And my response to that on behalf of IGUA, as set out in my factum, is, well, you can't just look at it with those narrow blinders, what Union proposes somehow makes them different, because Enbridge proposes something different, because the range of options applicable to Union will include the price cap, revenue cap, and, I suspect, other options. 

And so in my factum, I suggest you should look at this with an expectation that somebody is going to suggest something different for Union, other than a price cap.  It may will include a revenue cap.  It may well include something that is not a revenue cap or price cap.  But the issue is, what are the range of options?  Which one is most appropriate?

And that applies to Enbridge as well.  Just because Enbridge has proposed a revenue cap doesn't make it necessarily subject to a different range of options.  Somebody is going to say Enbridge should be under a price cap.  Somebody is going to say Enbridge should be under something that is neither a price cap nor a revenue cap. 

So the common issue is, what is the range of options?  And that should be decided in a combined proceeding. 

As to the other common issues, I went through these in my submissions on July the 13th.  I think you will find it in the transcript on that date.  I don't intend to repeat it.  I have it from pages 16 to 18 of that transcript.

The components of the adjustment mechanism, a common issue to both cases.  X factors, Y factors, Z factors.  All of that stuff is common to both the application of Enbridge and Union.  Nothing has changed, in my respectful submission, in that respect from July to today.  

The only issues on principle that are severable, in my respectful submission, are utility-specific issues.  I made that point on July the 13th, and I will make it again.  And in the case of Union, the only utility-specific issue in its application is this weather normalization business.  But they don't ask to sever that.  They don't ask to hive that off and dealt at the front end.  They want that kept in their case.  So if they're not asking for it, you don't need to consider it. 

The rationale, in my submission, for considering common issues in a combined proceeding are the process efficiencies that result and the cost efficiencies that result as a consequence of the process efficiencies. 

And in our factum we suggest that if you consider the process burdens of a severed proceeding, so that we have to deal with common issues in Union's case first, and then again in Enbridge's case, my submission is that places a very severe and added process burden on the Board, Board Staff, and on intervenors, because they are going to have to deal with these things twice.

It may dilute some of the process burden Union currently faces, but when you compare the increased process burden on everybody else versus the diluted process burden on Union, I submit you can conclude that it remains appropriate to keep combined issues -- common issues in a combined proceeding.  

So that then brings me to this concept -- this problem of retroactivity.  And that was raised on July the 13th, and it's being raised again today.  And your conclusion in your ruling was that retroactivity concerns should be treated as a secondary matter, and that the priority should be to get the common issues dealt with fully so that we get this right. 

And so it is in that connect that we reject Mr. Shepherd's proposition, which I am not sure I fully understand it yet, but it is something beyond -- he says we keep it in a combined proceeding, but now he is -- as I understand him, we are going to have to go back to deal with this schedule again and divide it up as between Union and Enbridge, which is going to be problematic, I am sure, and then somehow we are going to phase the scheduling of witnesses and witness panels so that at the -- at some point in the process before Enbridge is finished on common issues, you are going to be in a position to render a decision on Union's case, but not with respect to weather.

So I ask myself:  What is this, really?  My suggestion to you is it is really something that is an option to an interim rate order, because at the end of the day you are still not going to be able to have final rates for Union as of January 1, 2008.  And I don't think Union is going to waive its right to bring an application for interim rate relief just because we are now back into trying to make a schedule that will accommodate this two-train approach, with Enbridge apparently on both trains and the trains going in different directions.

  The Board apparently is on both trains, too, with one panel of the Board.  That may have some difficulties, in our view.

So we reject this proposal.  We submit it is more cumbersome than what we are dealing with now.  

So we urge you to adhere to your original ruling, keep these matters combined, adhere to the concept of the schedule that is set out in your Procedural Order No. 5.  We appreciate that there is going to be some difficulties with PEG's interrogatory responses.  I am sure we are going to -- as I say in my factum, we should anticipate that not all of these evidence filing deadlines are going to be met, but -- and there will have to be a certain amount of flexibility to adjust to that.

But I am reasonably confident, like Mr. Farrell, that big picture, we should be able to adhere reasonably closely to something that gets us to a settlement conference in mid November and a hearing that starts in early December.

Nothing is guaranteed, obviously, and I think the Board will have to be flexible in this, because this is a complex matter, and PEG's letter is Exhibit A in that regard.  

So those are the submissions of IGUA with respect to this matter.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Buonaguro.
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you Mr. Chair.  We also submitted a factum and essentially agree with Mr. Thompson and his reasons for rejecting the relief requesting terms of bifurcating and also the modified relief, I guess we can call it, that is suggested by Schools.

In terms of considering this issue, the thing that we put first is trying to figure out what it is that we think the Board should have in front of it when it makes a decision, and whether you are talking about Union's proposed relief or the modified relief proposed by Mr. Shepherd, the result is that the Board, when considering Union's application, it is being suggested that they do so without the full evidence on Enbridge's application or presumably some of the intervenor evidence that may be relevant to Enbridge's application.

That poses problems in terms of what we think is the reason for this hearing in this first place, which is to look at, generally speaking, the incentive regulation mechanism that should be applying to the natural gas utilities Ontario.

It was mentioned -- by way of specific example, Mr. Penny mentioned the annual forecasts that are prevalent in Enbridge's case and that that is not relevant to the Union application, because they are not asking for a mechanism that requires annual forecasts.

The question that immediately leaps to mind is why?  What is the between Union and Enbridge such that Enbridge is applying for a mechanism that requires annual forecasts, and is the reason for that difference between the two applications appropriate in terms of what the Board should do in regulating its utilities?

  That is just one example of where, even though Union is not asking for it, the reason for Enbridge asking for it should be applied to Union, in terms of evaluating the reasonableness of Union's application.  And presumably the same would go the other way, as well, in terms of why Enbridge isn't applying for what is arguably the simpler price cap mechanism that Union is applying for.

Essentially, we think that in order to make an appropriate decision in this case for rates that are going to be applying for up to five years in advance -- or for the next five years, it is particularly important in this case that we have all the relevant information on the Board when it sits down to make a decision.

The probability, if you were to accept bifurcation either in its full or in some modified form, is that you only have part of the information and that there may be evidence or questions raised in the second proceeding which you are going to wish you had either considered or heard when you made the first decision.  And for that reason in particular, we oppose the bifurcation at this point.

Those are our submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro. 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Kaiser, if I could just interject, there is no submission from Board Staff, but I did wish to bring to your attention that there were three parties that did file submissions who were unable to attend today because of scheduling conflicts, and I mention Mr. Warren in particular.  I would just remind the Board of that and that their submissions are on the record.  CCC did file a factum.  Coral and TransAlta, I believe Ms. DeMarco's client, and GEC is also unable to be here today, but they all filed written argument.

MR. KAISER:  Am I right that they all opposed bifurcation?

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is correct, Mr. Chair.  I can't say that I read GEC's and Coral's, but CCC.  I am advised that all three appear to object.

MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chairman, I also have a submission made by VECC and it, too, opposed bifurcation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is me.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, do you have anything in reply?


MR. PENNY:  Just one comment very briefly, Mr. Chairman --


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry.  Mr. Shepherd.

Further Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know it is unusual to allow another party to reply, but there were comments on my particular submissions.  I wonder if I could deal with two of them.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One comment that was made was that this would mean we would have to go back to the schedule and rejig it.  We are going to have to rejig it, anyway, Mr. Chairman.  Because of the delays to date and the delays that we can see already projected, you have two choices.

You can stick to the schedule, which means that the utilities get more time and we simply grind the intervenors so they get less time.  That is not acceptable.  That is not a right answer.  So the other solution is change the schedule.  That is inevitably what has to be done, anyway.  So whether you change it to have parallel tracks or change it to have one track that works properly and gives fair treatment to both intervenors and utilities, you still have to change it.

My second comment is my friend Mr. Thompson says that the range of options for incentive regulation available to Union and Enbridge is the same.  

In theory, that is true.  Absolutely that is true, and indeed we have argued that.

Now that we have seen the two applications, I would invite anybody in the room who is going to propose a revenue cap per customer for Union to stand up.  The fact is nobody is going to propose that.

So what is true in theory is not true in practice.

Those are our submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.
Further Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The one thing that Mr. Thompson said today that I agree with is that this is about process and cost efficiencies, and while it may be true, as Mr. Buonaguro says, that in the perfect world you would have full information and the full range of options available to you, and then be able to pick the best for everyone, but there is of course a cost associated with that.

And that is really our point today, that we are not dealing with perfect worlds.  We are not dealing with perfect information.  We are dealing with practical realities, and you have to balance a number of things in order to come up with something that is just and reasonable, in the big picture, that accommodates all of these competing issues.

And I don't think anyone disputes that while it may be a secondary issue to getting it right, that retroactivity is a concern, our submission is simply that the difference between today and July 13th is that you know more about the balance of those process and cost efficiencies, and I am simply saying that we know that the costs are higher, if I can put "costs" in the broad sense of the word, in that we are now talking about more retroactivity than we were before, and it is unclear that the benefits are as great as what was thought as a result of the fact that the so-called common issues are, with the benefit of more information, not so common.  And that is what it really boils down to.

Those are my comments in reply.  Thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Penny, there is a provision in the current schedule for a settlement conference in November. 

MR. PENNY:  Yes. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In its decision on July 13th, the Board addressed the question of ADRs, and indicated that in an appropriate case the Board wouldn't have any difficulty with a separate ADR process for Union.  Does that give you any comfort in the circumstance? 

MR. PENNY:  Well, I certainly agree that it is an issue that we need to come to grips with.  I increasingly am of the view that a joint settlement conference, if you will, is going to be unworkable, both from a process and a content point of view, and certainly not achievable in eight days.  And so I do think that some thought has to be given to whether that is realistic and how we can come up with something that will be workable, and certainly separate ADR processes is one way to do it.  It creates -- I mean, there are structural problems with that, given what some of my friends have said about what they -- that they want to sort of look at the range of options and pick what they like and maybe apply it to both utilities.

But even if we get over it, I mean, they may find that, once faced with a possible resolution that is acceptable to them, that their principles are not dictating that approach so much any more.

But leaving all of that aside, I think even just looking at it from the practical point of view, we do need to deal with that.  But unfortunately, I think it means that, again, because of the issues that my friends have raised, you can't run them necessarily at the same time, because the same people are involved.  So that would require further adjustments to the schedule, I am afraid. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is an eight-day settlement-conference provision, and it occurs, not surprisingly, at a time when all of the evidence and the interrogatories are to have been concluded.

And it seems to me that there may -- it just occurred to me as I looked at the schedule that that may provide some measure of comfort to your client that at least at that point, when all of the evidence is in - not tested, but in - or not tested in the oral hearing, anyway -- that that provision -- which I don't think would require any further formality from the Board.  I don't think the Board would have to make a determination that it is a separate ADR.  I think that that's -- people can think about that.  But that that might give you some comfort in the circumstance.  

MR. PENNY:  As I say, I certainly agree that that is something that needs to be dealt with if the Board is not inclined to grant our relief, and we are obviously looking for any ways that can expedite the process.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you for your submissions, gentlemen.  We will take the morning break and come back in half an hour. 

--- Recess taken at 11:20 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:59 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have a preliminary matter?
Procedural Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do, Mr. Chair, very quickly.  It is largely an administrative matter, but I thought since we actually had the Panel sitting right now, it might be appropriate to bring it up.

There is an issue with regard to certain of PEG's undertaking responses.  PEG is seeking confidential status be attached to those, and rather than make people wait until this is ultimately decided before the Board, Board Staff agreed to provide those undertaking responses on a without-prejudice basis to people who had signed the undertaking.

And the difficulty Enbridge is having is that the Board's form of undertaking specifically states that employees cannot review the materials, and of course in this case it will in fact be Enbridge employees who are the witnesses, or at least some of the witnesses, who will speak to this.  So they actually need to see it.

Board Staff and PEG have no problem with allowing Enbridge employees to see this material if they sign the undertaking.  So what we are proposing is that an exception be made on this case, and I am not sure if Union is in a similar position.  I have not heard that from them, but there is no difficulty from Board Staff's view or PEG's view with Enbridge employees seeing these undertaking responses.  In fact, we agree they probably have to see them.

So what we are hoping to get is the Board's blessing that in this instance, Enbridge employees be permitted to sign the undertakings so that they can review the undertaking confidentiality so that they can see PEG's undertaking responses.

I don't know if Enbridge has anything to add to that.  I don't think this is controversial.  Everyone appears to agree.  I haven't raised it with the intervenors, but I don't think that they really have an interest in this.

MR. FARRELL:  The only thing I would add, Mr. Chair, is that PEG also wanted to have its form of confidentiality undertaking signed, which we have done.

MR. KAISER:  We have two forms going?  Do we have two forms of confidentiality being signed?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think in an effort to expedite this and to allow the exchange of information, Mr. Lowry had proposed he has his own form that he had used in the past and that had been circulated.

What we would propose is that for the purpose of this hearing, that the Board undertaking would be the one that apply; though I understand this other undertaking may have been signed, as well.

You may recall in the past some utilities had their own undertaking, and then there was the Board undertaking.  We have tried to get away from that practice. 

So I would suggest that probably the Board's undertaking apply in this hearing, although, again, I understand another one may have been signed, as well.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have the acceptable form?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we had not actually made any changes, but what we would propose is the current form be used and either they blackline or simply cross out where it says -- it says something like, I am not an employee.

It is certainly acceptable to us to simply have that crossed out for the purposes of this proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  All right, that is acceptable.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 
Decision on the Motion:


MR. KAISER:  The Board heard submissions this morning on a Motion filed by Union Gas Limited on September 6th seeking a variance of the Board's ruling of July 13th in this proceeding.  This proceeding relates to applications that both Union and Enbridge filed on May 11th with respect to incentive rate plans to become effective January 1st, 2008.

On May 25th, the Board issued a Decision and Procedural Order combining the two applications.  On July 13th, we heard submissions from a number of parties on different procedural matters, one of which was an application by Union to bifurcate or separate the proceedings and have the Board hear the Union application separately.

That application was dismissed on July 13th.  Various parties have read from the decision that appears at pages 44 to 47 of the transcript of that day.

This application is opposed by all of the parties, with the possible exception of Schools, which I will refer to in a moment.  The parties opposing, in addition to Enbridge, are the various consumer interest groups, including the Industrial Gas Users Association, the Consumers Council, the City of Kitchener, VECC, GEC, Coral and TransAlta.

SEC or Schools has a hybrid position which would keep the proceedings combined, but have the Board deal with the Union application on an expedited basis and decide the Union case first.  We are not convinced that this solves the problem.

The test the Board applies in these motions is set out in the Rules 42 to 44.  Distilled down to its basics, the Board generally requires a showing of new evidence or a change in circumstances.  

Here, Union says that what has changed is that the prospect of delay has increased substantially over what appeared to be the case back on July 13th.

However, a number of parties also made submissions with respect to the schedule the parties agreed to on a consent basis.  That schedule is Appendix A to the Board's Procedural Order of August 31st.  

The July 13th decision specifically requested the parties to consult with each other and see if they could agree on an acceptable timetable, and they did so.

It appears, on examining that schedule today, that we are more or less on track.  There are some late filings, but there are certain deadlines coming up fairly soon that we will meet, such as the September 25th deadline with respect to filings by Enbridge and Union; the technical conference of October 3rd to 5th; and the response to undertakings from the technical conference on October 11th.  In other words, those dates appear to be firm and the Board is convinced that this schedule remains workable and will continue to adopt it.

I should add that we are adamant that we intend to follow this schedule going forward.  We will do everything we can to enforce it.  We all live in a world of practicalities, and this Board has other cases in the wings.  

Ms. Chaplin has the honour of sitting on the Bruce to Milton transmission case, a case with lots of trains and big engines.  It probably won't be delayed for anyone.  It is important that we all work as diligently as we can to meet this schedule.

Having said that, there are other matters we should consider.  We remain of the view that there are benefits to the combined proceeding.  There are common issues and there are economies to be had in hearing time.

More importantly, the overriding principle is:  How do we get the best record?  We are not convinced by Mr. Farrell that deciding the Union case first would predispose us in deciding his case.  We also understand his concern that the Board Staff has taken a position, but as Mr. Thompson would tell him, the Board has been known to disagree with Staff witnesses.

We are however convinced that it is important to hear the evidence in both cases before deciding any of them.  It is not correct, with respect, to say that the Union case is simpler.  The application may be simpler, but the case isn't simpler.
The Board will have to consider competing methodologies in both of these cases, and we expect there will be a full and forthright examination of all potential proposals.

Of course, we remain concerned, as we were on July 13th, about retroactivity. We said so then and we say it again, retroactivity is not good.  It is bad.  There are, however, mechanisms, we believe, to reduce its impact.  We will explore those mechanisms when and if these two applicants bring forward applications for interim rate increases and deal with it at that time.

Looking at the larger issues, we remain of the view, as we stated on July 13, that these proceedings should remain combined, and that schedule A which forms Appendix A to the August 31st Order should remain in force.

That completes the Board's ruling on this matter.

Any questions?  Thank you. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, just one item if I might, with respect to costs.  In the IGUA factum, I have suggested -- I know it is rather unusual, but I am suggesting and asking you to consider awarding eligible intervenors their reasonably incurred costs with respect to this matter as against Union, as clearly Union brought this motion.

And the reason I do that is because this is a combined case, I am just a little concerned if we don't do this now, then this is an item that may get rolled up in some sort of allocation later on.  So I would ask you to consider that.

MR. KAISER:  It is satisfactory if we reserve on that?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:09 p.m.
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